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January 17, 2024 

 

Ronald Sullivan, Regional Director 

Southwest and Rocky Mountain Region 

U.S. Department of Labor 

Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs 

525 S Griffin St 

Room 840 

Dallas, TX 75202 

 

Investigation Request: Southwest Airlines Co.  

 

Dear Mr. Sullivan: 

 

America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) is a national, nonprofit organization working 

to protect the rule of law, due process, and equal protection for all Americans. Your 

office is charged with responsibility for achieving the aims of parts II, III, and IV of 

Executive Order 11246 for the promotion and insuring of equal opportunity for all 

persons, without regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender 

identity, or national origin, employed or seeking employment with Government 

contractors. See 41 C.F.R. § 60-1. We write, pursuant to 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.21, seeking 

a complaint investigation into alleged violations of Executive Order 11246 by 

Southwest Airlines Co. (“Southwest”).  

 

Southwest publicly traded corporation under your jurisdiction, having its 

headquarters at 2702 Love Field Drive, Dallas, Texas.1 Since 2007, Southwest has 

received nearly $330,000,000 in total from thousands of federal government 

contracts—primarily concerning transportation services for the Department of 

Defense.2 

 

Federal law requires all federal government contracts to include an equal opportunity 

clause prohibiting the contractor from discriminating against an employee or an 

applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The 

law provides:  

 

 
1 Southwest Airlines Co., 2022 Annual Report to Shareholders at 176 (Feb. 6, 2023) 

http://tinyurl.com/yh3chejd. 
2 Southwest Airlines Co., USASPENDING, http://tinyurl.com/mr3uantu (last visited Jan. 16, 2024). 
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The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender 

identity, or national origin. The contractor will take affirmative action to 

ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during 

employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, or national origin. Such action shall include, but 

not be limited to the following: Employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer, 

recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or 

other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including 

apprenticeship … The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for 

employees placed by or on behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified 

applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, 

color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin. 

 

41 C.F.R. §§ 60-1.4(a)(1), (2). This clause is a part of every federal contract and 

subcontract, whether or not it is physically incorporated and whether or not the 

contract between the agency and the contractor is written. 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.4(e). If 

the contractor violates this provision, then the Secretary of Labor may cancel, 

terminate, or suspend its contracts, and the contractor may be declared ineligible for 

further federal government contracts and subject to other sanctions. 41 C.F.R. §§ 60-

1.26–27. 

 

The evidence is that Southwest is knowingly, intentionally, and systematically 

violating its equal opportunity covenants and assurances. Since at least 2020, 

Southwest has engaged in discriminatory hiring and promotion processes under the 

guise of creating “more diverse, equitable, and inclusive opportunities and candidate 

pipelines.”3 Southwest readily admits that, in 2020, it set a goal of “[d]oubling the 

percentage of racial diversity and increasing gender diversity in our Senior 

Management Committee (Executives) by 2025 as compared to 2020” and “[i]ncreasing 

diversity in Senior Leadership as compared to 2020.”4 Southwest’s stated goals in 

2020 were to have 20% “Racial/Ethnic Diversity” in its Senior Management 

Committee by 2025 and 16% “Racial/Ethnic Diversity” in Senior Leadership by the 

same 2025.5 Similarly, its stated goals in 2020 were to have 30% female membership 

in its Senior Management Committee by 2025 and 34% female membership in Senior 

Leadership by that same year.6 

 

 
3 SOUTHWEST, 2022 SOUTHWEST AIRLINES DIVERSITY, EQUITY, & INCLUSION REPORT: BUILDING A 

STRONG FOUNDATION at 18, 20 (2022) http://tinyurl.com/msxnkthp; see also 2022 SOUTHWEST AIRLINES 

DIVERSITY, EQUITY, & INCLUSION REPORT: OUR PRIORITIES & PATH FORWARD at 7 (2022), 

http://tinyurl.com/4b2nxh5w. 
4 SOUTHWEST, 2022 SOUTHWEST AIRLINES DIVERSITY, EQUITY, & INCLUSION REPORT: BUILDING A 

STRONG FOUNDATION at 18. 
5 Id. at 20. 
6 Id. 
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AFL is concerned7 that Southwest is following through on its promise to engage in 

discriminatory race-based and gender-based hiring practices through its use of 

explicit quotas, all in the name of “Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion.” Specifically, and 

as described in Southwest’s 2022 One Report: 

 

● Out of Southwest’s 18,000 new hires in 2022 “63% were racially diverse, 

increasing [its] overall racial diversity from 40% in 2021 to 44%.”8  

 

● Additionally, out of those 18,000 new hires, 51% were women, thus “increasing 

[its] gender diversity from 43% in 2021 to 44%.”9 

 

● From 2020 to 2022, “[a]mong Senior Leadership (Directors and Senior 

Directors), racial diversity increased from 15% to 17%” and “gender diversity 

has increased from 33% to 37%.”10 

 

● From 2020 to 2022, Southwest “increased the racial diversity of [its] Senior 

Management Committee (SMC) Members by two percentage points.”11  

 

Through its statements in its Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Report, its One Report, 

and its demographic trends in recent years, Southwest appears to be unlawfully 

considering sex, race, and color in its hiring practices. As a recipient of thousands of 

federal contracts, it appears to have admitted to intentional violations of 41 C.F.R. §§ 

60-1.4(a)(1), (2). Accordingly, your office should exercise its authority and undertake 

a compliance evaluation of Southwest; on this record, failing to do so would be 

arbitrary and capricious, and an abuse of your discretion.  

 

Thank you in advance for your consideration. Please feel free to contact me if you 

have any questions.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

/s/ Will Scolinos 

Will Scolinos 

America First Legal Foundation 

 

 

 
7 AMERICA FIRST LEGAL, America First Legal Files Civil Rights Complaints Against American, United, 

and Southwest Airlines for Illegal Racial and Sex Discrimination (Nov. 1, 2023), 

http://tinyurl.com/2k9ws2mf.  
8 SOUTHWEST, 2022 ONE REPORT at 12 (Apr. 22, 2022), https://tinyurl.com/3z6k6nma. 
9 Id. 
10 Id. 
11 Id. 
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CC:  The Hon. James Comer, Chair, House Committee on Oversight and 

Accountability 

The Hon. Jamie Raskin, Ranking Member, House Committee on Oversight and 

Accountability 

The Hon. Sam Graves, Chair, House Committee on Transportation and 

Infrastructure  

The Hon. Rick Larsen, Ranking Member, House Committee on Transportation 

and Infrastructure 
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